

DOCKETED

Docket Number:	14-OIR-01
Project Title:	Power Source Disclosure Program Rulemaking
TN #:	211841
Document Title:	Additional 15-Day Notice and Express Terms
Description:	N/A
Filer:	Sabrina Savala
Organization:	California Energy Commission
Submitter Role:	Commission Staff
Submission Date:	6/16/2016 12:13:59 PM
Docketed Date:	6/16/2016

CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION1516 Ninth Street
Sacramento, California 95814Main website: www.energy.ca.gov

Notice of Availability of Additional 15-Day Language

Power Source Disclosure Program Implementation Rulemaking

Energy Commission Docket No. 14-OIR-1

INTRODUCTION

On May 17, 2016, the California Energy Commission (Energy Commission) adopted modifications to the Power Source Disclosure Program to implement Assembly Bill (AB) 162 (Stats. 2009, ch. 313) and AB 2227 (Stats. 2012, ch. 606) and make a few other minor changes. After careful consideration, the Energy Commission has determined that some of the changes adopted may not have been clearly marked in accordance with Government Code section 11346.8(c). Therefore, in order to ensure that the proposed changes have been properly brought to the attention of the public prior to submittal to the Office of Administrative Law, the Energy Commission is releasing this 15-Day Language in order to clearly identify those portions of the proposed changes that had not been so identified in the previous publications. The Energy Commission invites the public to review and comment on these changes. The proposed revisions are summarized below and included in this notice. Additionally, the proposed revisions and other supporting documents are available on the Energy Commission website at:

http://www.energy.ca.gov/power_source_disclosure/14-OIR-01/

The public may also request copies of the proposed regulations by contacting Kevin Chou at kevin.chou@energy.ca.gov or (916) 653-1628.

Additionally, the Energy Commission has available all the information upon which the proposed regulations are based at the website listed above. For those without internet access, copies or assistance can be obtained by contacting:

California Energy Commission
Dockets Office
1516 Ninth Street, MS-4
Sacramento, CA 95814-5512
(916) 654-5076
docket@energy.ca.gov

The Energy Commission also has the entire rulemaking file available for inspection and copying throughout the rulemaking process at its office at the address above.

BACKGROUND

The PSD program was established by Senate Bill (SB) 1305 (Stats. 1997, ch. 796, § 1) and amended by AB 162 (Stats. 2009, ch. 313, §§ 1 – 3) and AB 2227 (Stats. 2012, ch. 616, §§ 6 - 7). The program’s intent, as described in statute, is to require the disclosure of “accurate, reliable, and simple to understand information on the sources of energy that are used to provide electric services [in California].”¹

On December 4, 2015, the Energy Commission published a Notice of Proposed Action (NOPA) proposing modifications to the PSD program (Register 2015, No. 49-Z, p. 2221). On December 18, 2015, the comment period was extended and the NOPA, Initial Statement of Reasons, and Express Terms were posted to the Energy Commission’s website and provided to interested persons via the power source disclosure and renewables list serves. In addition to receiving written comments on the proposal, the Energy Commission held a public workshop on January 6, 2016, to discuss the changes. On March 29, 2016, the Energy Commission published 15-Day Language and, after considering all comments, adopted the proposed changes on May 17, 2016.

As discussed above, after careful consideration, the Energy Commission has determined that an additional notice is necessary to ensure that all proposed changes have been clearly identified. In addition, the following document identified in the Initial Statement of Reasons as a document relied upon was not posted on our website: California Independent System Operator Fifth Replacement FERC Electric Tariff, (December 1, 2014). While this document was available by other means, and we received no requests to view it, in order to ensure full availability of this document to the public, we are identifying it here as now being accessible on our website at the following web address:

http://docketpublic.energy.ca.gov/PublicDocuments/14-OIR-01/TN211835_20160615T151028_CAISO_Conformed_Tariff_Dec_1_2014.pdf

Summary of Existing Laws and Regulations (Gov. Code §11346.5, subd. (a)(3)(A))

Under existing law, all entities offering electric services in California are required to disclose information on the sources of energy that are used to provide electric services. Existing law requires every retail supplier, as defined, that makes an offer to sell electricity that is consumed in California to disclose its electricity sources for the previous calendar year. These disclosures are required to be made to end-use customers and potential end-use customers. Existing regulations require only retail suppliers that claim a specific renewable content in their product to make this disclosure. These proposed regulations would update the existing regulations to reflect existing law.

¹Public Utilities Code, section 398.1, subd. (b).

Existing law requires a retail supplier to disclose its electricity sources as a percentage of annual sales that is derived from specified sources of energy, including eligible renewable energy resources, and unspecified sources of power. Existing law identifies the categories of sources that must be disclosed, including various eligible renewable energy resources pursuant to the California Renewable Portfolio Standard Program. These proposed regulations would update the existing regulations to reflect this.

Existing law requires that all retail suppliers file an annual report and provides the Energy Commission with discretion to establish the due date for this report. These proposed regulations would establish June 1st as the due date for this report. Existing regulations require an audited report to be filed by June 1st of each year. These proposed regulations would change this deadline to October 1st.

Existing law requires the actual electricity mix from the previous calendar year to be disclosed in annual and promotional power content labels. Existing regulations require quarterly reporting and specify in exact detail how the power content label must appear in all product-specific written promotional materials. These proposed regulations would update the existing regulations to remove the quarterly reporting requirement and would remove the detailed description of how the power content label must be designed and instead require retail suppliers to use an electronic template found on the Energy Commission's website to generate the required power content label.

Specific Benefits Anticipated by the Proposed Regulations (11346.5(a)(3)(C))

In addition to the benefits identified in the Notice of Proposed Action, the proposed regulations will result in an increase in openness and transparency in business and government by better aligning the PSD regulations with statutory requirements and ensuring that the power content labels provided to consumers are identical in format to enable easier comparison of data.

Local Mandate Determination (11346.5(a)(5))

The Energy Commission has determined that these regulations will not impose a mandate on local agencies or school districts.

Fiscal Impact to the Energy Commission (11346.5(a)(6))

These regulations would not result in any costs or savings that necessarily would be incurred in reasonable compliance, administration, implementation, or enforcement by the Energy Commission, nor would they result in any other impacts such as revenue changes.

Reasonable Alternatives, if Any, to the Proposed Regulations (Gov. Code Section 11346.2, subd. (b)(4)(A))

No reasonable alternative has been proposed, including any that would be less burdensome and equally effective in achieving the purpose of the regulation in a manner that ensures full compliance with the authorizing statute or any other law being implemented or made specific by the proposed regulation.

With regard to the requirement to use the Energy Commission’s electronic template to generate the power content label, performance standards had previously been in effect describing in detail how the label must look, but proved to be ineffectual in ensuring that all power content labels are consistent in appearance; no other performance standards were considered.

Technical, Theoretical, or Empirical Studies, Reports, or Similar Documents Relied Upon Regarding Business Impact Determination (Gov. Code Section 11346.2, subd. (b)(5)(A))

The proposed regulations will not have a significant adverse economic impact on business. As explained in the Initial Statement of Reason, the majority of the changes reflected in this rulemaking, and all of those concerned with reporting, are mandated by statute. No other modifications impose any costs on business; Changes that are not mandated by statute – providing guidance for pumped storage and self-generation, revising guidance for auditing requirements, changing the annual report due date, requiring use of a template, and minor grammatical and numbering changes – will not have an economic effect.

Efforts To Avoid Duplication (Gov. Code section 11346.2(b)(6))

The Energy Commission has confirmed that the Code of Federal Regulations does not contain any regulations that address the same issues as those addressed in this rulemaking. Therefore, as discussed in the Initial Statement of Reason, the Energy Commission has determined that the proposed regulations will not cause unnecessary duplication or any conflicts with federal regulations contained in the Code of Federal Regulations addressing the same issues.

PROPOSED 15-DAY LANGUAGE

The 15-Day Language changes identified in this notice include:

1. The phrase “are applicable” in section 1391, subdivision (c) is being removed because it is not necessary.
2. The word “eligible” and the phrase “that is certified for the California Renewable Portfolio Standard” are being removed from section 1391, subdivision (c)(3). Because the Power Source Disclosure program is now relying on the Renewable Portfolio Standard program to define certain terms, as mandated by AB 162, a definition for Eligible hydroelectric is no longer warranted in these regulations. This language was proposed to be removed in the original 45-Day Language, but the existence of underlining in addition to strikeout may have confused readers, therefore, we are clearly marking it here for removal.
3. Under section 1394, subdivision (a)(1)(B), the word “or” has been added to indicate either an original signature or an electronic copy of the original document containing the original signature is acceptable to meet the requirement for submittal of the Annual Retail Supplier Report.

4. Under section 1394, previously subdivision (a)(2), the 2 has been struckout and the 3 added to indicate this subdivision has been renumbered.
5. Under section 1394, subdivision (a)(2)(C), the phrase “by resource type” has been added to clarify that the supplier filing must include the total net specific purchases by resource type.
6. Under previous Appendix C, the letter “A” has been clearly identified to show that the appendix has been renamed to Appendix A.
7. Under new Appendix A, the word “by” has been added to subdivision (c)(1)(B)(1) to correct a grammatical error.

PUBLIC HEARING

The Energy Commission will consider adopting the proposed revisions to the existing regulations for the PSD program during its regularly scheduled business meeting on:

Wednesday, July 13, 2016
10:00 a.m.
California Energy Commission
1516 Ninth Street
Art Rosenfeld Hearing Room
Sacramento, California
(Wheelchair accessible)

Remote Access Available by Computer or Phone via WebEx™
(see instructions below)

Instructions for accessing Energy Commission hearings using either method can be found at: <http://www.energy.ca.gov/webcast/index.html>. If you have a disability and require assistance to participate in either the staff workshop/hearing or the Energy Commission adoption hearing, please contact Lou Quiroz at (916) 654-5146 at least five days in advance of the workshop/hearing or the adoption hearing.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Any interested person may submit written comments on the proposed changes. The written comment period for the 15-Day Language will be from June 17, 2016, through 5:00 PM on July 1, 2016.

E-mail comments in either Microsoft Word format (.doc) or Adobe Acrobat portable document format (.pdf) to: DOCKET@energy.ca.gov. All written comments sent by e-mail must indicate **Docket No. 14-OIR-01** in the subject line.

Written comments may also be mailed to:

California Energy Commission
Docket No. 14-OIR-01
Docket Unit
1516 Ninth Street, MS-4
Sacramento, CA 95814-5504

The Energy Commission will also accept oral comments during the hearing on July 13, 2016. Comments may be limited to three minutes per speaker. All comments will become part of the public record of this proceeding.

PUBLIC ADVISER AND OTHER COMMISSION CONTACTS

The Energy Commission's Public Adviser's Office is available to assist any person who wishes to participate in this proceeding. For assistance from the Public Adviser's Office, please call (916) 654-4489, or toll-free in California at (800) 822-6228, or email at publicadviser@energy.ca.gov.

If you have a disability and require assistance to participate in these hearings, please contact Lou Quiroz at (916) 654-5146 at least 5 days in advance.

News media inquiries should be directed to the Media and Public Communications Office at (916) 654-4989, or by email at mediaoffice@energy.ca.gov.

If you have questions on the subject matter of this proceeding, please contact Kevin Chou at kevin.chou@energy.ca.gov or (916) 653-1628. If you have legal questions about this proceeding, please contact Senior Staff Attorney Lisa DeCarlo at lisa.decarlo@energy.ca.gov or (916) 654-5195.

Power Source Disclosure Program Implementation Additional 15-Day Language June 2016

Changes to the March 2016 version of the Express Terms are indicated by italics with yellow highlighting for deleted language (*example*) and bolding with green highlighting (**example**) for added language

Article 5. Electricity Generation Source Disclosure

§ 1391. Definitions.

~~(a) "Claim that identifies any of a retail provider's electricity sources as different from net system power" or "claim of specific purchases" means any statement that is made to consumers by a retail provider for the purpose of marketing any electricity product and that contains either:~~

~~(1) a reference to use of an eligible renewable to generate, in part or in whole, the electricity product offered for sale by the retail provider, other than disclosure of net system power; or~~

~~(2) a statement that a specific attribute of the electricity product related to the generator creates an environmental effect.~~

(a) "Balancing authority" means the responsible entity located within California that integrates resource plans ahead of time, maintains load-interchange generation balance within a balancing authority area, and supports interconnection frequency in real time.

(b) "Electricity Electric service product" means the electrical energy produced by a generating facility that a retail seller offers to sell to consumers in California under terms and conditions specific to an offer or to a tariff. It does not include the provision of electric services on site, sold through an over-the-fence transaction, as defined in Section 218 of the Public Utilities Code, or sold or transferred to an affiliate, as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 372~~(a)~~ of the Public Utilities Code.

(c) "Eligible renewable" means electrical generation from a facility that is certified pursuant to the Renewables Portfolio Standard Program (Article 16 (commencing with Section 399.11)) of the Public Utilities Code, and uses one of the following fuel types *are applicable*: a technology other than a conventional power source, as defined in Section 2805 of the Public Utilities Code, that uses one of the following energy sources, provided that a power source utilizing more than 25 percent fossil fuel may not be included:

(1) Biomass and biowaste. For purposes of these regulations, "biomass and biowaste" means the power source that is comprised of combustible residues or gasses from logging, forest products manufacturing, agricultural and orchard crops, waste products from livestock and poultry operations and food processing,

~~urban wood waste, municipal solid waste, municipal liquid waste treatment operations, landfill, and waste tires converted to electrical energy.~~

~~(2) Geothermal. For purposes of these regulations, "geothermal" means the power source that is thermal energy naturally produced within the earth that is converted to electrical energy in boilers and/or turbines.~~

~~(3) Small Eligible hydroelectric. For purposes of these regulations, "small eligible hydroelectric" means the power source created when water flows from a higher elevation to a lower elevation and that is converted to electrical energy in one or more generators at a single facility that is certified for the California Renewable Portfolio Standard, the sum capacity of which does not exceed 30 megawatts~~

~~(4) Solar. For purposes of these regulations, "solar" means the power source that is comprised of radiation from the sun that is directly or indirectly converted to electrical energy.~~

~~(5) Wind. For purposes of these regulations, "wind" means the power source created by movement of air that is converted to electrical energy in a wind turbine.~~

(d) "Energy Commission" means the State Energy Resources Conservation and Development Commission.

(e) "Facility" means one or all generating units at an electric generating station.

(f) "Fuel type attribute" means the fuel or technology type used to generate a quantity of kilowatt hours, specified using the categories identified in subsections (d)(1)(A) and (B) of section 1393, and subsection (b)(3)(C) of section 1392.

(g) "Generating facility output" means the electrical energy and/or fuel type attribute, denominated in kilowatt hours that is produced by a specific generating facility.

(h) "Generating unit" means a device that converts mechanical, chemical, electromagnetic, or thermal energy into electricity and that:

(1) has an electric output capable of being separately identified and metered;

(2) is located within the Western Electricity Systems Coordinating Council interconnected grid; and

(3) is capable of producing electrical energy in excess of a generation station's internal power requirements.

(i) "Generator" means the initial seller of electrical energy produced by a generating unit.

(j) "Independent System Operator" or "ISO" means the entity that is subject to the requirements of Section 345 et seq. of the Public Utilities Code.

(k) "Large hydroelectric" means the power source created when water flows from a higher elevation to a lower elevation and that is converted to electrical energy in one or more generators at a single facility, the sum capacity of which exceeds 30 megawatts.

(l) "Local publicly owned electric utility that does not utilize the Independent System Operator" means any of the following entities that owns generation facilities that are not individually metered by the ISO: (1) a municipality or municipal corporation operating as a public utility district furnishing electric services ; (2) an irrigation district furnishing electric services; or (3) a joint powers authority that includes one or more of the entities identified in (1) or (2) and that owns generation or transmission facilities, or furnishes electric services over its own or its members' electric distribution system.

(m) "Net electricity generated" means electricity generated by any generating facility, less any generation used on-site, sold through an over-the-fence transaction, as defined in Section 218 of the Public Utilities Code, or sold or transferred to an affiliate as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 372(a) of the Public Utilities Code.

(n) "Out-of-State power" means power generated entirely outside the state which is sold for wholesale or retail purposes in California.

(o) "Pool" means an entity into which multiple generators deliver generating facility output and out of which multiple retail ~~providers~~ suppliers purchase generating facility output, such that buyer and seller may not have knowledge of each other's identities. The amount of electrical energy delivered into and purchased from the pool must be equal, and the amount of fuel type attribute delivered into the pool must be equal to or greater than the amount of fuel type attribute purchased from the pool.

(p) "Product-specific written promotional materials that are distributed to consumers" means any paper, electronic, or other media that contain words pertaining to a specific ~~electricity~~ electric service product being advertised or offered and that are distributed to consumers or made available over the Internet. It does not include advertisements and notices in general circulation media.

(q) "Report electronically" means to provide files in either a database or spreadsheet format that can be read by the most recent version of either Microsoft™ Excel or Microsoft™ Access.

(r) "Retail supplier" or "retail provider" means an entity that offers an ~~electricity~~ electric service product for sale to retail consumers in California.

(s) "Scheduling Coordinator" means any entity certified by the Independent System Operator for the purposes of undertaking the functions specified in Section 2-2.6 4.5.1

of the Independent System Operator Tariff. (~~Restated and Amended Tariff of the California Independent System Operator Corporation, August 15, 1997 Fifth Replacement FERC Electric Tariff, December 1, 2014~~)

(t) "Specific purchase" means a transaction in which generating facility output is traceable to specific generating facilities by any auditable contract trail or equivalent, such as a tradable commodity system, that and which provides commercial verification that the generating facility output claimed has been sold once and only once to retail consumers. Retail suppliers may rely on annual data to meet this requirement, rather than hour-by-hour matching of loads and resources. Specific purchases include electrical transactions from facilities owned or controlled by the retail supplier.

(u) "System Operator" has the same definition as balancing authority and includes ~~means~~ the Independent System Operator as defined in subsection (h) of this section, ~~or~~ and each a local publicly owned electric utility that does not utilize the Independent System Operator, as defined in subsection (j) of this section.

(v) "Total California system electricity" means the sum of all in-state generation and net electricity imports by fuel type.

(w) "Unspecified sources of power" means electricity that is not traceable to specific generation sources by any auditable contract trail or equivalent, including a tradable commodity system, that provides commercial verification that the electricity source claimed has been sold once and only once.

Note: Authority cited: Section 25213, Public Resources Code; and Sections 398.3-398.5, Public Utilities Code.

Reference: Sections 25216 and 25216.5, Public Resources Code; and Sections 398.1-398.5, Public Utilities Code.

§ 1392. Generation Disclosure.

(a) Method and Timing of Submissions

(1) All submissions to the ~~System Operator~~ balancing authority required by ~~subsection~~ division (a)(2) of this section must be provided to the ~~System Operator~~ balancing authority by the generator, either directly or through a Scheduling Coordinator.

(2) Each generator that provides meter data to a ~~System Operator~~ balancing authority, either directly or through a Scheduling Coordinator, shall report the information specified in subsection (b) of this section to the ~~System Operator~~ balancing authority within forty-five days of the end of each calendar quarter beginning with the quarter ending December 31, 1998.

(b) Content and Format of Submissions to the ~~System Operator~~ Balancing Authority

(1) General Information:

(A) Name and telephone number of person to contact about the submission;

(B) Generator name, address, and an identification number provided by the ~~System Operator~~ balancing authority, or in the event that the ~~System Operator~~ balancing authority does not provide an identification number to the generator, by the Energy Commission;

(C) For each generating facility that generates electrical energy consumed in California, the generating facility name, location, either by street address or by longitude and latitude, and an identification number provided by the U.S. Energy Information Agency, or, in the event that the U.S. Energy Information Agency does not provide an identification number to the generating facility, by the Energy Commission.

(2) Generation Information: Generators shall report electronically the electricity generated in kilowatt hour by hour by each generating facility, in each month of the preceding quarter.

(3) Fuel Information:

(A) For generating facilities using only one type of fuel, generators shall report electronically the type of fuel consumed in the preceding quarter.

(B) For generating facilities using more than one fuel type, generators shall report electronically the fuel consumed in each month of the preceding quarter as a percentage of the total fuel used for electricity generation.

(C) Fuel shall be reported in the following categories:

1. Eligible renewable, which shall be reported in the following subcategories:

a. Biomass and biowaste

b. Geothermal

c. ~~Small~~ Eligible hydroelectric

d. Solar

e. Wind

2. Coal
3. Natural gas
4. Large hydroelectric
5. Nuclear
6. Other

(c) ~~System Operator~~ Balancing Authority Responsibilities

(1) Subject to the limitations described in subsection (c)(2) of this section, all data provided to the ~~System Operator~~ balancing authority pursuant to ~~subsection~~division (b) of this section will be reported electronically to the Energy Commission either by providing a computer disk containing the information, or by providing electronic access to the information. This access shall be provided to the Energy Commission within 60 days of the end of each calendar quarter.

(2) Limitations on Energy Commission Access:

(A) The ~~System Operator~~ balancing authority is not required to provide the Energy Commission with any information submitted under ~~subsection~~division (b)(3) of this section that specifies the amount of fuel consumed at a generating facility.

(B) The ~~System Operator~~ balancing authority is not required to provide the Energy Commission with any information submitted under ~~subsection~~division (b)(3) of this section for out-of-state power.

(d) The following requirements apply to generation and fuel information that is reported for any generation that is sold in an ~~electricity~~ electric service product for which a claim of specific purchases is made.

(1) The generation and fuel information must be reported from individually metered generating facilities.

(2) If generation or fuel information for electrical energy that is sold in an ~~electricity~~ electric service product for which a claim of specific purchases is made is not reported pursuant to ~~subsection~~division (a) of this section, the generator shall report electronically the information specified in ~~subsection~~division (d)(2)(A)-(C) of this section to the Energy Commission by March 1 of each year beginning

in 1999 for each generating facility that generated such electrical energy in California. If the information is provided to the Energy Commission in another filing, the generator may submit a statement identifying the filing and section of the filing in which the information is contained in lieu of a separate filing pursuant to this ~~subsection~~division.

(A) General Information:

1. Name and telephone number of person to contact about the submission;
2. Generator name, address, and an identification number provided by the ~~System Operator~~balancing authority, or in the event that the ~~System Operator~~balancing authority does not provide an identification number to the generator, by the Energy Commission;
3. For each generating facility, the generating facility name, location, either by street address or by longitude and latitude, and an identification number provided by the U.S. Energy Information Agency, or, in the event that the U.S. Energy Information Agency does not provide an identification number to the generating facility, by the Energy Commission.

(B) Net electricity generated by the generating facility in kilowatt hours in the previous calendar year; and

(C) Type of fuel consumed by the generating facility as a percentage of electricity generation in the previous calendar year, using the categories specified in ~~subsection~~division (b)(3)(C) of this section.

(3) When a retail ~~provider's~~supplier's claim of specific purchases mandates that a generator comply with the reporting requirements of ~~subsection~~division (d)(2) of this section, the retail ~~provider~~supplier shall inform the generator that he or she must comply with these reporting requirements.

Note: Authority cited: Section 25213, Public Resources Code; and Sections 398.3 and 398.5, Public Utilities Code.

Reference: Sections 25216 and 25216.5, Public Resources Code; and Sections 398.3 and 398.5, Public Utilities Code.

§ 1393. Retail Disclosure to Consumers.

(a) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:

(1) "Annual disclosure" means the annual disclosure required under Public Utilities Code section 398.4(c).

(2) "Marketing disclosure" means the disclosure required under Public Utilities Code section 398.4(b).

(3) "Power content label" means the information disclosed to consumers pursuant to the format requirements of this section.

(4) "Eligible renewable" means eligible renewable as defined in section 1391 of this article.

(b) Pursuant to Section 398.4 of the Public Utilities Code, each retail supplier shall disclose to consumers the fuel mix of each electric service product that was sold during the previous calendar year, and separately disclose total California system electricity, using the schedule and format specified in this section.

(c) Each retail supplier shall disclose the information required in this section to consumers according to the following schedule:

(1) Marketing disclosures shall be provided in all product-specific written promotional materials that are distributed to consumers, as defined in subsection (g) of section 1391 of these regulations.

(2) Annual disclosures shall be provided by United States mail to customers of the electric service product and to the Energy Commission on or before the end of the first complete billing cycle for the third quarter of the year. Retail suppliers may provide annual disclosures to customers via electronic mail, provided that the customer has consented to receiving electronic mail notice in lieu of service by United States mail. Annual disclosures shall also be displayed on the website of the retail supplier.

(d) Each retail supplier shall disclose the following information in all power content labels about the fuel mix of the electric service product and of total California system electricity:

(1) Fuel mix information shall be provided using the following fuel type categories and in the following order, rounded to the nearest percent:

A. Eligible renewable

B. Coal

C. Large hydroelectric. For the purposes of this section, a pumped storage hydroelectric facility that consumes more electricity than it generates in a reporting year shall specify zero kilowatt hours of net electricity purchased.

D. Natural gas

E. Nuclear

F. Other

G. Unspecified sources of power

(2) The retail supplier shall include the following subcategories within the eligible renewable category:

A. Biomass and biowaste

B. Geothermal

C. Eligible hydroelectric

D. Solar

E. Wind

(3) The calculations identified in this section shall be based on net purchases of all specific purchases and unspecified sources of power acquired during the previous calendar year. Calculations shall be made using the information reported to the Energy Commission in the retail supplier's annual report as outlined in Section 1394 (a)(2)(A)(2).

(4) The fuel mix disclosed by retail suppliers that offer an electric service product to retail consumers in California and one or more other states shall reflect the entire portfolio of resources of that product.

(e) Each retail supplier shall provide disclosures for each electric service product offered using a power content label. The power content label shall use the following format:

(1) All information contained in the power content label shall appear in one place without other intervening material.

(2) Location of the power content label.

(A) If the retail supplier offers materials that consist of more than one page, the power content label or a note telling the customer where the power content label can be found, shall appear on the cover page or the first facing page. If a note is used to tell the customer where the power

content label can be found, the note shall appear in a type size no smaller than 10 point.

(B) Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivision (e)(2)(A) of this section, if the promotional materials pertain to more than one electric service product and contain multiple pages, the power content label for each product may appear on the page discussing that electric service product.

(3) Each retail supplier shall use the power content label template provided by the Energy Commission on its website at <http://www.energy.ca.gov/pcl/> to generate its power content label. The retail supplier shall input its fuel mix percentages in the fields in the column labeled “[year] Power Mix.” The final column shall contain California total system power. The format of the power content label may not be altered by the retail supplier.

Note: Authority cited: Section 25213, Public Resources Code; and Section 398.4, Public Utilities Code. Reference: Sections 25216 and 25216.5, Public Resources Code; and Section 398.4, Public Utilities Code.

§ 1393. — Retail Disclosure to Consumers

~~(a) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:~~

~~(1) “Annual disclosure” means the disclosure required under Public Utilities Code section 398.4(l).~~

~~(2) “General disclosures” means the disclosures required under Public Utilities Code section 398.4(b) and (c).~~

~~(3) “Marketing disclosure” means the disclosure required under Public Utilities Code section 398.4(b).~~

~~(4) “Net system power” means the fuel mix adopted by the Energy Commission pursuant to Public Utilities Code section 398.5 (f).~~

~~(5) “Power content label” means the information disclosed to consumers pursuant to the format requirements of this section.~~

~~(6) “Quarterly disclosure” means the disclosure required under Public Utilities Code section 398.4(c).~~

~~(7) “Eligible renewable” means eligible renewable as defined in section 1391 of this article.~~

~~(b) Pursuant to Section 398.4 of the Public Utilities Code, each retail provider shall disclose to consumers the fuel mix of each electricity product offered, using the schedule and format specified in this section. For each electricity product, the retail provider shall do the following:~~

~~(1) A retail provider that makes a claim of specific purchases shall:~~

~~(A) Disclose the projected fuel mix for the electricity product in the current calendar year in its general disclosures as described in subsection (e) of this section; and~~

- ~~(B) Separately disclose the fuel mix for net system power in its general disclosures, as described in subsection (e) of this section; and~~
 - ~~(C) Disclose the fuel mix for the electricity product that was sold during the previous calendar year in its annual disclosure, as described in subsection (e) of this section.~~
- ~~(2) A retail provider that does not make any claims of specific purchases shall:
 - ~~(A) Disclose the fuel mix for the electricity product to be sold in the current calendar year in its general disclosures as the fuel mix for net system power, as described in subsection (e) of this section; and~~
 - ~~(B) Separately disclose the fuel mix for net system power in its general disclosures, as described in subsection (e) of this section; and~~
 - ~~(C) Not make an annual disclosure.~~~~
- ~~(c) Each retail provider shall disclose the information required in this section to consumers according to the following schedule:
 - ~~(1) Marketing disclosures shall be provided in all product-specific written promotional materials that are distributed to consumers, as defined in subsection (p) of section 1391 of these regulations.~~
 - ~~(2) Quarterly disclosures shall be provided by United States mail to consumers of the electricity product and the Energy Commission by the end of the first complete billing cycle for each quarter, beginning with the January 1999 quarter, using the power content label. For purposes of this section, quarters shall begin in January, April, July, and October of each year. Retail providers may provide quarterly disclosures to consumers via the Internet provided that the consumer has consented to receiving Internet notice in lieu of service by United States mail.~~
 - ~~(3) Annual disclosures shall be provided in writing to consumers of the electricity product and to the Energy Commission on or before April 15 of each year beginning in 1999. Retail providers may provide annual disclosures to consumers via the Internet, provided that the consumer has consented to receiving Internet notice in lieu of service by United States mail.~~~~
- ~~(d) Each retail provider shall disclose the following information in all power content labels about the fuel mix of the electricity product and of net system power:
 - ~~(1) The power content labels containing general disclosures shall meet the following requirements:
 - ~~(A) Fuel mix information shall be provided using the following fuel type categories and in the following order, rounded to the nearest percent:
 - ~~1. Eligible renewable~~
 - ~~2. Coal~~
 - ~~3. Large hydroelectric~~
 - ~~4. Natural gas~~
 - ~~5. Nuclear~~
 - ~~6. Other~~~~
 - ~~(B) The retail provider shall include the following subcategories within the eligible renewable category, provided however, that the retail provider is not required to display the fuel mix percentages for these subcategories in general disclosures for a product for which a claim of specific purchases was made:~~~~~~

1. ~~Biomass and waste~~
2. ~~Geothermal~~
3. ~~Small hydroelectric~~
4. ~~Solar~~
5. ~~Wind~~

~~(C) Calculation~~

1. ~~For each electricity product for which no claim of specific purchases has been made, the fuel mix displayed shall be identical to that displayed for net system power. For each electricity product for which a claim of specific purchases has been made, the percentage of each fuel type category or subcategory that is specified shall be calculated by adding the contribution from each specific purchase in the electricity product to the contribution from all other purchases, if any, for that fuel type category or subcategory, as shown by the following formula: $w_1(x) = w_1(x) + w_2(y)$.

 - a. ~~"w₁" is the percentage of electricity in this electricity product the retail provider expects to provide through specific purchases;~~
 - b. ~~"x" is the percentage contribution for a given fuel category or subcategory to total specific purchases for that electricity product;~~
 - c. ~~"w₂" is the percentage of electricity in the electricity product the retail provider expects to provide through sources other than specific purchases; and~~
 - d. ~~"y" is the percentage contribution for the fuel category or subcategory to the net system power fuel mix.~~~~
2. ~~For purposes of this calculation, the contribution from all other sources shall be calculated using only the most recently adopted fuel mix of net system power.~~

~~(2) If a retail provider makes a claim of specific purchases, the annual disclosure shall consist of the fuel mix of the electricity product sold to consumers during the previous calendar year. In addition, if the percentage of any fuel type category or subcategory contained in any general disclosure made during the previous calendar year for that electricity product varies by more than plus or minus five percentage points from the percentage provided in the annual disclosure, the fuel mix information displayed in the general disclosure that varies the most from this annual disclosure shall be displayed.~~

~~(A) For purposes of subsection (d)(2) of this section, the general disclosure that varies the most from this annual disclosure is the general disclosure for which the sum of the squares of the differences between the percentage points identified for each fuel category or subcategory in the general disclosure and in this annual disclosure, as represented by the calculation $\text{SIGMA}(x_i - y_i)^2$, is greatest, where "x_i" is the percentage contribution for fuel category or subcategory "i" listed in a general disclosure and "y_i" is the percentage contribution for fuel category or~~

subcategory “i” for the annual disclosure, for “i” equals all fuel categories and subcategories.

~~(B) If the fuel mix information for the electricity product contained in a general disclosure is required to be displayed pursuant to subsection (d)(2), the retail provider shall also provide an explanation of why there is a difference between the information contained in the general disclosure and the information contained in the annual disclosure.~~

~~(e) Each retail provider shall provide general and annual disclosures for each electricity product offered using a power content label. The power content label shall use the following format:~~

~~(1) All information contained in the power content label shall appear in one place without other intervening material.~~

~~(2) Location of the power content label.~~

~~(A) If the retail provider offers materials that consist of more than one page the power content label or a note telling the consumer where the power content label can be found, shall appear on the cover page or the first facing page. If a note is used to tell the consumer where the power content label can be found, the note shall appear in a type size no smaller than 10 point.~~

~~(B) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (e)(2)(A) of this section, if the promotional materials pertain to more than one electricity product and contain multiple pages, the power content label for each product may appear on the page discussing that electricity product.~~

~~(3) The power content label shall be set off in a box by use of hairlines which shall be all black or one color type such that the lines are conspicuous.~~

~~(4) All information within the power content label shall utilize:~~

~~(A) A single sans serif font;~~

~~(B) At least one point space between two lines of text;~~

~~(C) Kerning such that letters never touch one another;~~

~~(D) A type size no smaller than 10 point, except that the footnotes and subheadings may be in a type size no smaller than 8 point; and~~

~~(E) Black type or type that is a color easily distinguishable from the background color.~~

~~(5) At the bottom of the box containing the power content label, the following note shall appear: “For specific information about this electricity product, contact [Company Name]. For general information about the Power Content Label, contact the California Energy Commission at 1-800-555-7794 or www.energy.ca.gov/consumer”, where “Company Name” is the name of the retail provider. This note shall appear in a type size no smaller than 8 point, and shall be set off from the upper portion of the box by a hairline.~~

~~(6) The power content label containing general disclosures shall appear in the following format:~~

~~(A) The information shall be presented under the identifying heading of “Power Content Label” which shall be in bold, uppercase letters, set in a type size larger than all other type size in the power content label.~~

~~(B) Fuel mix information for the electricity product or products being sold and for net system power shall be displayed in a table format, and shall be organized as follows:~~

~~1. The first row of the table shall contain column headings. Headings shall appear in reverse type against a solid background.~~

~~2. A solid bar shall be displayed immediately below the last row of the table.~~

~~3. The first row of the first column shall display a heading of "Energy Resources", bolded and in all capital letters. Subsequent rows shall display fuel type categories and subcategories, as specified in subsection (d)(1) of this section. The category names shall be displayed in bold, and subcategory names for the eligible renewable category shall be unbolded, indented, and shall display a hyphen immediately before the name of the subcategory. The final row of this column shall read "total" in all upper case letters and in bold.~~

~~4. The second column shall display the fuel mix information for the electricity product being sold. The first row of the second column shall display a heading of the product name, bolded and in all capital letters. Immediately next to the product name in the first row of the second column shall be a footnote marker, directing the reader to the footnote specified in subsection (e)(6)(C)(1). Immediately below the product name shall be the subheading "(projected)". The subsequent rows of the column shall display the fuel mix information for the electricity product being sold. The fuel mix information shall be rounded to the nearest percent, expressed using a percent sign, and may, but need not, include the percentages for the eligible renewable subcategories. The final row for this column shall read "100%." The percentages for the categories shall be aligned and displayed in bold, and the percentages for the eligible renewable subcategories, if any, shall be aligned to the right of the percentages for the categories. If the retail provider is not making a claim of specific purchases for this electricity product, the fuel mix information displayed for the electricity product shall be identical to that displayed for net system power.~~

~~5. Power content labels containing marketing disclosures may contain other columns to the right of the second column to display fuel mix information for other products being sold by the retail provider. Each of these columns shall be in the same format specified in subsection (e)(6)(B)4. of this section. If fuel mix information for other products is provided, each product name shall be immediately followed by a footnote marker, directing the reader to the footnote specified in subsection (e)(6)(C)1.~~

~~6. The column farthest to the right shall contain information about the fuel mix of net system power. The first row of the column shall contain the heading “[Year] CA Power Mix”, bolded and in all capital letters, where [Year] refers to the year for which the most recently-adopted fuel mix of net system power is available. Immediately next to the heading “[Year] CA Power Mix” shall be a footnote marker, directing the reader to the footnote specified in subsection (e)(6)(C)(2). Immediately below the heading shall be the subheading “(for comparison)”. The subsequent rows of the column shall display the fuel mix information for net system power most recently adopted by the Energy Commission, including the percentages for the eligible renewable subcategories. The fuel mix information contained in this column shall be in unbolded type, and the percentages for the fuel type categories shall be aligned, and the percentages for the eligible renewable subcategories shall be aligned to the right of the percentages for the categories. The final row for this column shall read “100%.”~~

~~(C) Footnotes shall appear at the bottom of the power content label as follows:~~

- ~~1. The first footnote shall read, “[percentage A] % of [Product Name] is specifically purchased from individual providers.”, where “Percentage A” is the percentage of electricity in this electricity product the retail provider expects to provide through specific purchases, and “Product Name” is the name of the electricity product. If fuel mix information for more than one product is provided in the power content label, the footnote shall list for each electricity product the percentages of the product that the retail provider expects to provide through specific purchases.~~
- ~~2. The second footnote shall read, “Percentages are estimated annually by the California Energy Commission based on the electricity sold to California consumers during the previous year.”~~

~~(D) An example of a power content label that meets the requirements for general disclosures made by a retail provider that makes a claim of specific purchases is shown in Appendix A-1 to these regulations. An example of a power content label that meets the requirements for general disclosures made by a retail provider that does not make a claim of specific purchases is shown in Appendix A-2 to these regulations. An example of a power content label that meets the requirements for general disclosures for more than one product is shown in Appendix A-3 to these regulations.~~

~~(7) Each retail provider shall provide a power content label containing an annual disclosure for each electricity product for which it made a claim of specific purchases during the previous calendar year, using the following format:~~

~~(A) The information shall be presented under the identifying heading of “Power Content Label” which shall be bolded and in all capital letters, set~~

in a type size larger than all other type size in the power content label. Immediately beneath this heading shall be a subheading “Annual Report of Actual Electricity Purchases for [Product Name] in [Year]”, where “Product Name” is the name of electricity product whose fuel mix is being disclosed, and “Year” is the previous calendar year. This subheading shall be set in a type size larger than the type size used to display the fuel mix information, but smaller than the type size used for the heading, and the product name shall be in bold.

~~(B) The fuel mix of the electricity product sold to consumers in the previous calendar year shall be displayed in a table format, and shall be organized as follows:~~

- ~~1. The first row of the table shall contain column headings. Headings shall appear in reverse type against a solid background.~~
- ~~2. A solid bar shall be displayed immediately below the last row of the table.~~
- ~~3. The first row of the first column shall display a heading of “Energy Resources”, bolded and in all capital letters. Subsequent rows shall display fuel type categories and subcategories, as specified in subsection (d)(1) of this section. The category names shall be displayed in bold, and subcategory names for the eligible renewable category shall be unbolded, indented, and shall display a hyphen immediately before the name of the subcategory. The final row of this column shall read “total” in all upper case letters and in bold.~~
- ~~4. The second column shall display the fuel mix information for the electricity product sold during the previous calendar year. The first row of the column shall contain the heading “Actual Power Mix”, bolded and in all capital letters. The subsequent rows of the column shall display the fuel mix information for the electricity product sold during the previous calendar year, using the categories and subcategories specified in subsection (d)(1) of this section. The fuel mix information for the categories contained in this column shall be in bolded type, with the percentages aligned. The fuel mix information for the eligible renewable subcategories shall be in unbolded type and the percentages shall be aligned to the right of the percentages for the categories. The final row for this column shall read “100%”, in bolded type.~~

~~(C) Comparison of General Disclosures to Annual Disclosure~~

- ~~1. If the percentage of any fuel type category or subcategory contained in any general disclosure made during the previous calendar year for that electricity product varies by more than plus or minus five percentage points from the percentage provided in the annual disclosure, a third column shall be displayed on the power content label.~~

~~a. If a third column is required, it shall contain the fuel mix information displayed in the general disclosure that varies~~

~~the most from this annual disclosure. The first row of the third column shall contain the heading “Projected Power Mix”, bolded and in all capital letters. Immediately next to the heading “Actual Power Mix” shall be a footnote marker, directing the reader to the footnote specified in subsection (e)(7)(C)1.c. The subsequent rows shall display the fuel mix information for the electricity product displayed in the general disclosure that varies the most from this annual disclosure. This information shall be displayed in the format specified in subsection (e)(6)(B)4. of this section.~~

~~b. The general disclosure that varies the most from this annual disclosure is defined in subsection (d)(2)(A) of this section.~~

~~c. Immediately below the last row in the power content label, the retail provider shall provide a footnote containing an explanation of why there is a difference between the information contained in the general disclosure and the information contained in the annual disclosure.~~

~~2. If no percentage of any fuel type category or subcategory contained in any general disclosure made during the previous calendar year varies by more than plus or minus five percentage points from the percentage in the electricity product sold, the following statement shall be displayed immediately below the last row in the power content label: “For each category, the percentage [Company Name] projected for [Year] was within plus or minus five percentage points of the actual percentage”, where “Company Name” is the name of the retail provider, and “Year” means the previous calendar year. The company name shall be bolded.~~

~~(D) An example of a power content label that meets the requirements for an annual disclosure not requiring inclusion of any previous year’s general disclosures is shown in Appendix A-4 to these regulations. An example of a power content label that meets the requirements for an annual disclosure requiring inclusion of a previous year’s general disclosure is shown in Appendix A-5 to these regulations~~

~~NOTE: Authority cited: Section 25213, Public Resources Code; Section 398.4, Public Utilities Code. Reference: Sections 25216, 25216.5, Public Resources Code; and Section 398.4, Public Utilities Code.~~

§ 1394. Annual Submission to the Energy Commission.

(a) Retail Provider Supplier Report.

(1) On or before ~~March~~ June 1 of each year, each retail provider supplier who made a claim of specific purchases during the previous calendar year shall

provide a filing to the Energy Commission, providing the information identified in subsections divisions (a)(2)(A)-(D) below for each ~~electricity~~ electric service product for which such a claim was made.

(A) Retail ~~providers~~ suppliers must provide this information on spreadsheet the Annual Report forms provided by the Energy Commission, and each page must include the Retail Energy Supplier Registration Identification Number provided by the California Public Utilities Commission or, if one is not provided, a unique identification number assigned by the Energy Commission.

(B) The retail ~~provider~~ supplier must provide one paper copy, with an original signature, ~~or an electronic copy of the original document containing the original signature, and, if feasible, must also provide the information electronically.~~

(C) The report must include an attestation, signed by an authorized agent of the retail ~~provider~~ supplier under penalty of perjury, that the generating facility output claimed by the retail ~~provider~~ supplier as a specific purchase during the previous calendar year was sold once and only once to retail customers of that retail ~~provider~~ supplier, and that the information provided in the report is true and correct.

(D) All fuel type attribute information shall be provided using the fuel type categories identified in subsections divisions (d)(1) and (2) ~~(A) and (B)~~ of section 1393.

(E) Retail ~~providers~~ suppliers may provide the information specified in subsections divisions (a)(2)(A)-(D) of this section by providing a reference to the date and title of a filing made to the Energy Commission containing the information specified in that subsection.

(2) Informational Requirements.

(A) Purchases

1. For each source of generating facility output ~~from which being claimed as a specific purchase was made~~, the retail ~~provider~~ supplier must include the following information: facility name or pool name, fuel type, state or province the facility is located in, facility or pool number ~~(a facility number will be provided by the U.S. Energy Information Agency (EIA), or, if one is not provided, by the Energy Commission WREGIS, or the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), and pool number will be provided by the Energy Commission)~~, certificate number of any certificates issued pursuant to Appendix B of these regulations

~~(if any), gross kilowatt hours purchased, kilowatt hours resold or consumed on-site, and the resultant calculation of net specific purchases. The retail provider shall also identify kilowatt hours of generic purchases, kilowatt hours of generic purchases resold or consumed on-site, and the resultant calculation of net generic purchases. This information shall be provided on the current version of Schedule 1 prepared by the Energy Commission.~~

2. All specific purchases and unspecified sources of power shall be reported on Schedule 1 as individual line items of gross kilowatt hours of purchased electricity and net kilowatt hours of purchased electricity, which shall be calculated by subtracting resold and consumed electricity. All reported purchases shall be denominated in thousands of kilowatt hours.

23. Retail providers suppliers who make are claiming specific purchases obtained from a pool must reference a filing made no later than March June 1 of the current calendar year to the Energy Commission by the pool that includes the following information:

a. For each generator that provided generating facility output into the pool, the facility name, fuel type, state or province the facility is located in, facility number provided by U.S. Energy Information Agency (EIA) or, if one is not provided, a unique identification number assigned by the Energy Commission, WREGIS, or FERC, ~~certificate number of any certificates issued pursuant to Appendix B of these regulations (if any)~~, and total number of kilowatt hours provided into the pool. This information shall be provided on the current version of Schedule 3 prepared by the Energy Commission.

b. For each purchase of generating facility output from the pool, the amount of kilowatt hours purchased by each purchaser by fuel type. ~~If the purchaser is also a retail provider, include the Retail Energy Supplier registration Identification number provided by the California Public Utilities Commission or, if one is not provided, a unique identification number assigned by the Energy Commission.~~ This information shall be provided on the current version of Schedule 4 prepared by the Energy Commission.

(B) Retail Sales: The retail ~~provider~~ supplier filing shall include each electric service product name, the kilowatt hours, in thousands, sold for

each product from specific purchases by fuel type and unspecified sources of power, ~~the kilowatt hours sold for each product from sources other than specific purchases~~, and total retail sales. This information shall be provided on the current version of Schedules 2A 1 and 2 prepared by the Energy Commission.

(C) Comparison of Total Purchases and Sales: The retail ~~provider~~ supplier filing shall include total net specific purchases **by resource type** and total net purchases of unspecified sources of power, consistent with subdivision (a)(2)(A) above, minus total retail sales for all products, consistent with subdivision (a)(2)(B) above, ~~and an explanation of any discrepancies between total net purchases and total retail sales~~. This information shall be provided on the current version of Schedule 2B prepared by the Energy Commission.

(D) Power Content Label: The retail ~~provider~~ supplier shall provide to the Energy Commission a copy of each ~~promotional marketing and annual disclosure provided to customers pursuant to subsection subdivisions 1393 (c)(1) and (2) of subsection 1393 that varies from any quarterly disclosure provided in that calendar year~~. In addition, the retail provider shall also provide a copy of any quarterly label provided to customers pursuant to ~~subsection (c)(2) of section 1393 that was not provided to the Energy Commission at the time it was provided to customers~~.

(b) Agreed-upon Procedures

(1) ~~By June~~ October 1 of each year, any all retail ~~provider~~ suppliers ~~who made a claim of specific purchases during the previous calendar year~~ shall provide a report prepared by an auditor who has conducted the procedures identified in Appendix ~~C~~ A of these regulations. The report shall contain a summary of the results of the procedures and a proof of service of the annual power content label to customers, ~~and the quarterly labels for the previous calendar year upon all customers~~.

(2) A retail ~~provider~~ supplier that is a public agency providing electric services is not required to comply with the provisions of subdivision (b)(1) ~~for if that public agency offers only one electricity electric service product to its customers and if the board of directors of the public agency approves at a public meeting the submission to the Energy Commission of an attestation of the veracity of the annual report~~. A report in accordance with subdivision (b)(1) shall be submitted for each additional electric service product it offers to its customers.

(c) The Energy Commission may on its own motion, or as a result of a request from a member of the public or other agency, investigate electricity transactions ~~claimed as~~

~~specific purchases identified by a retail supplier~~ to determine whether the transactions are traceable to specific generating facilities and whether they provide commercial verification that the electricity source claimed has been sold once and only once to retail consumers. In conducting its investigation, the Energy Commission may require the production of the service lists used to comply with the requirements of ~~subsection~~division (b) of this section, as well as commercial documents, such as contracts, invoices, the verification procedures performed pursuant to ~~subsection~~division (b) of this section, and attestations.

Note: Authority cited: Section 25213, Public Resources Code; and Section 398.5, Public Utilities Code. Reference: Sections 25216 and 25216.5, Public Resources Code; and Section 398.5, Public Utilities Code.

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX A-1

Sample power content label showing a product for which the retail supplier is claiming some specific purchases. In this example, the product is 50% from specific purchases and 50% from non-specific purchases (for which net system power is claimed), and the most recent net system power calculation is for 1999.

POWER CONTENT LABEL		
ENERGY RESOURCES	PRODUCT NAME* (projected)	1999 CA POWER MIX** (for comparison)
Eligible Renewable	— 56%	— 12%
— Biomass & waste	—————	————— 2%
— Geothermal	—————	————— 5%
— Small hydroelectric	—————	————— 3%
— Solar	—————	————— <1%
— Wind	—————	————— 2%
Coal	— 10%	— 20%
Large Hydroelectric	— 10%	— 20%
Natural Gas	— 16%	— 31%
Nuclear	— 8%	— 16%
Other	— <1%	— <1%
TOTAL	— 100%	— 100%
<p>* 50% of Product Name is specifically purchased from individual suppliers.</p> <p>** Percentages are estimated annually by the California Energy Commission based on the electricity sold to California consumers during the previous year.</p> <p>For specific information about this electricity product, contact Company Name. For general information about the Power Content Label, contact the California Energy Commission at 1-800-555-7794 or www.energy.ca.gov/consumer.</p>		

APPENDIX A-2

Sample power content label showing a product for which the retail supplier is not claiming specific purchases. In this example, the most recent net system power calculation is for 1999.

POWER CONTENT LABEL		
ENERGY RESOURCES	PRODUCT NAME* (projected)	1999 CA POWER MIX** (for comparison)
Eligible Renewable	— 12%	— 12%
— Biomass and waste	— 2%	— 2%
— Geothermal	— 5%	— 5%
— Small hydroelectric	— 3%	— 3%
— Solar	— <1%	— <1%
— Wind	— 2%	— 2%
Coal	— 20%	— 20%
Large Hydroelectric	— 20%	— 20%
Natural Gas	— 31%	— 31%
Nuclear	— 16%	— 16%
Other	— <1%	— <1%
TOTAL	— 100%	— 100%

* 0% of **Product Name** is specifically purchased from individual suppliers.

** Percentages are estimated annually by the California Energy Commission based on the electricity sold to California consumers during the previous year.

For specific information about this electricity product, contact **Company Name**. For general information about the Power Content Label, contact the California Energy Commission at 1-800-555-7794 or www.energy.ca.gov/consumer.

APPENDIX A-3

Sample power content label showing multiple electricity products. In this example, the most recent net system power calculation is for 1999.

POWER CONTENT LABEL			
ENERGY RESOURCES	PRODUCT NAME 1* (projected)	PRODUCT NAME 2* (projected)	1999 CA POWER Mix** (for comparison)
Eligible Renewable	— 56%	— 12%	— 12%
— Biomass & waste	—————	————— 2%	————— 2%
— Geothermal	—————	————— 5%	————— 5%
— Small hydroelectric	—————	————— 3%	————— 3%
— Solar	—————	————— <1%	————— <1%
— Wind	—————	————— 2%	————— 2%
Coal	— 10%	— 20%	— 20%
Large Hydroelectric	— 10%	— 20%	— 20%
Natural Gas	— 16%	— 31%	— 31%
Nuclear	— 8%	— 16%	— 16%
Other	— <1%	— <1%	— <1%
TOTAL	— 100%	— 100%	— 100%
<p>* 50% of Product Name 1 and 0% of Product Name 2 is specifically purchased from individual suppliers.</p> <p>**Percentages are estimated annually by the California Energy Commission based on the electricity sold to California consumers during the previous year.</p> <p>For specific information about these electricity products, contact Company Name. For general information about the Power Content Label, contact the California Energy Commission at 1-800-555-7794 or www.energy.ca.gov/consumer.</p>			

APPENDIX A-4

Sample annual report to customers for the case where actual purchases do not differ by more than five percentage points in any fuel category or subcategory.

POWER CONTENT LABEL	
Annual report of actual electricity purchases for Product Name in 1999	
ENERGY RESOURCES	ACTUAL POWER MIX
Eligible Renewable	53%
—Biomass and waste	3%
—Geothermal	20%
—Small hydroelectric	3%
—Solar	7%
—Wind	20%
Coal	8%
Large Hydroelectric	12%
Natural Gas	20%
Nuclear	7%
Other	0%
TOTAL	100%

For each category, the percentage **Company Name** projected for 1999 was within ±5 percentage points of the actual percentage.

For specific information about this electricity product, contact **Company Name**. For general information about the Power Content Label, contact the California Energy Commission at 1-800-555-7794 or www.energy.ca.gov/consumer.

APPENDIX A-5

Sample annual report to customers for the case where actual purchases differ from projected fuel mix by more than five percentage points in one or more fuel categories or subcategories.

POWER CONTENT LABEL		
Annual report of actual electricity purchases for Product Name in 1999		
ACTUAL		
ENERGY RESOURCES	POWER MIX	POWER MIX*
Eligible Renewable	49%	56%
—Biomass and waste	3%	
—Geothermal	15%	
—Small hydroelectric	3%	
—Solar	7%	
—Wind	11%	
Coal	10%	8%
Large Hydroelectric	14%	12%
Natural Gas	19%	17%
Nuclear	8%	7%
Other	0%	0%
TOTAL	100%	100%

* [explanation for why projected power mix varied from actual purchases]

For specific information about this electricity product, contact **Company Name**. For general information about the Power Content Label, contact the California Energy Commission at 1-800-555-7794 or www.energy.ca.gov/consumer

Appendix B
Energy Commission Certificate Program

~~(a) This subsection describes the Energy Commission certificate program, in which a retail provider may use certificates created by Energy Commission software to demonstrate that it has purchased the right to claim a specified quantity of generating facility output from a specific facility.~~

~~(b) The Energy Commission certificate program shall consist of the following elements:~~

~~(1) The Energy Commission will make its certificates software available to generators within the Western Systems Coordinating Council that do not sell their generating facility output to an investor-owned utility under the terms of a contract entered into prior to September 24, 1996 under the Public Utilities Regulatory Policies Act of 1978. This software creates facility specific certificates that contain the following information: the serial number of each certificate issued, the kilowatt hours associated with each certificate, the name of the generator, the generating facility identification number provided by the U.S. Energy Information Agency or, if one is not provided, a unique identification number assigned by the Energy Commission, the quarter in which the electrical energy identified on the certificate was generated, the fuel type used to generate the kilowatt hours, and a signature block for the generator.~~

~~(2) Each generator that wishes to obtain a copy of the certificates software shall provide to the Energy Commission the following information: the generating facility name, the generating facility identification number provided by the U.S. Energy Information Agency or, if one is not provided, a unique identification number assigned by the Energy Commission, the address of the generating facility, the name and telephone number of a designated contact for the generator, and the fuel or technology type and capacity of the generating facility. After receiving this information, the Energy Commission will provide the generator with a copy of its certificates software and a series of certificate numbers to be used for each generating facility identified by the generator.~~

~~(3) Each retail provider that owns a certificate created by the Energy Commission's certificates software may use that certificate to support a claim of specific purchases in its annual retail provider report pursuant to the terms of this program. The retail provider shall include the serial number(s) of the certificates for generation being claimed.~~

~~(4) In the annual report prepared pursuant to Public Utilities Code § 398.5(e), the Energy Commission will find that certificates created by the Energy Commission's certificates software verify that the retail provider who provided the certificates has purchased the right to claim the generating facility output from the specific facility identified on the certificates, provided the generator has done all of the following:~~

~~(A) Ensure that the total amount of generation in each quarter is equal to or greater than the amount of kilowatt hours identified in the certificates issued in that quarter.~~

~~(B) Provide the following information to the Energy Commission no less frequently than the fifteenth day after the end of each quarter: total generation during the previous quarter of each facility, the serial numbers of all certificates created by the generator during the previous quarter for each facility, and the amount of kilowatt hours identified in each such certificate.~~

~~(C) Provide, upon Energy Commission request, independent third party readings of the facility meter. Generators must keep copies of meter reads for two years after the generation occurs.~~

Appendix ~~C~~^A: Agreed-Upon Procedures

(a) This appendix describes the agreed-upon procedures that retail ~~providers~~ suppliers ~~claiming specific purchases~~ shall use to comply with the requirements of ~~subsection~~ subdivision (b)(1) of ~~Section~~ Section 1394 of these regulations. These procedures shall be performed for each ~~electricity~~ electric service product for which a ~~claim of~~ specific purchases ~~was were~~ made during the previous calendar year, unless the exemption identified in ~~subdivision~~ section (b)(2) of ~~Section~~ Section 1394 of these regulations is applicable. The procedures in ~~subdivision~~ sections (c)(1), and (c)(2) of this Appendix are applicable to all transactions relating to the fuel mix of the product, and the procedures in ~~subdivision~~ section (c)(3) are applicable to the power content labels disclosing the fuel mix of the product. The procedures described in ~~subdivision~~ section (c)(4) are also applicable to transactions in which the purchase of generating facility output is traced from a specific generating facility to a retail customer through a pool.

(b) The retail ~~supplier~~ provider must engage an independent accountant or certified internal auditor to perform the procedures identified in ~~subdivision~~ section (c) below, in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements, Section 600 or under Statements on Auditing Standards, Section 622. The accountant shall provide a report to the Energy Commission no later than October ~~June~~-1 of each year summarizing the results of the procedures.

(1) The accountant must be a Certified Public Accountant in good standing with the ~~American Institute of Certified Public Accountants~~ AICPA or a Certified Internal Auditor in good standing with the Institute of Certified Internal Auditors.

(2) The accountant or auditor may use sampling techniques following the guidance set forth in the AICPA AU Section 350, *Audit Sampling*, provided that the sample size is determined using a confidence level of 90 percent, a tolerable deviation of 10 percent, and an expected deviation rate of 3 percent, and the total population size is determined. The program participant will need to determine the population size (estimates are acceptable). The sample size shall be determined by using a statistical sampling program, and sample selection shall be made on a random basis using a random number generator. In any event, no more than 50 percent (50%) of the selected transactions may relate to any one month unless more than 50 percent (50%) of the population relates to the same month. All parameters and deviations used and the sample size must be described in the report. If the accountant chooses not to use sampling techniques, testing of 100 percent (100%) of the population must be performed.

(c) Agreed-Upon Procedures

(1) Purchases: The auditor shall review the information used to prepare Schedules 1 and 2~~B~~ and perform the procedures identified below, noting any exceptions.

(A) The auditor shall agree the specific purchases and resales/self-consumption by facility or pool name, facility or pool number provided by EIA, WREGIS, or FERC, unique identification number, certificate numbers of any certificates issued pursuant to Appendix B of these regulations, if any, and kilowatt hours and fuel type from the information used to prepare Schedule 1 to Schedule 1. The auditor shall agree the generic purchases of unspecified sources of power and resales/self-consumption from the information used to prepare Schedule 1 to Schedule 1. The auditor shall also test the mathematical accuracy of Schedule 1.

(B) The auditor shall select a sample of purchases from the information used to prepare Schedule 1 using the sampling guidelines discussed in ~~subdivision~~section (b)(2) of this Appendix, and for each purchase in the sample perform the following procedures:

1. Agree the facility or pool name, facility or pool number provided by EIA, WREGIS, or FERC, unique identification number, certificate number of any certificates issued pursuant to Appendix B of these regulations, if any, kilowatt hours and the fuel type from the invoice ~~(or from the Energy Commission)~~ to the information used to prepare Schedule 1.

2. For facilities owned by the retail supplier provider, agree the kilowatt hours with meter readings made by an independent third party, or confirm that the retail supplier provider has another internal auditing procedure that assures facility production agrees to production claims.

3. Agree the date of generation from the invoice to the reporting period of the information used to prepare Schedule 1.

(C) The auditor shall agree the net kilowatt hours purchased shown on Schedule 1 to net purchases shown on Schedule 2B. Note as an exception if any explanation of the difference in net purchases and sales was improperly excluded.

(2) Sales: The auditor shall review the information used to prepare Schedules 1 and 2A, and perform the procedures identified below, noting any exceptions.

~~(A) Agree sales by fuel type and by product from the information used to prepare Schedule 2A to Schedule 2A. The auditor shall also check the mathematical accuracy of Schedule 2A.~~ The auditor shall agree the total retail sales information used to prepare Schedule 1 to total retail sales shown on Schedule 1.

~~(B) Select a sample of sales from the information used to prepare Schedule 2A, using the sampling guidelines discussed in subsection (b)(2), and agree the sales to customers by fuel type and product to the billing statement. The auditor shall agree the total retail sales shown on Schedule 1 to total retail sales shown on Schedule 2. The auditor shall also check the mathematical accuracy of Schedule 2.~~

(3) Labels

~~(A) The auditor shall obtain copies of all quarterly and promotional labels for the previous year, and compare the percentages by fuel type in these disclosures to the percentages by fuel type calculated per subsection (d)(1)(C)(1) of section 1393 using the data supplied in Schedule 2A, noting any exceptions.~~

~~(B)(A) The auditor shall obtain a copy of the annual power content label provided to customers for each product pursuant to subdivision section (eb)(27) of Section 1393 of this chapter. The auditor shall calculate the fuel and technology mix of the total annual retail sales for the product using the information provided in Schedule 2A and the equation found in subdivision section (cd)(1)(C) of Section 1393 of this chapter. The auditor shall then compare these percentages to those identified for the actual power mix on the annual label. The auditor shall note any exceptions greater than 1%.~~

~~(C) The auditor shall determine if the absolute value of the percentage point difference for any fuel type identified on the annual label and any projected disclosure is greater than five percentage points, and, if so, whether the annual label displays a "Projected Power Mix" column that identifies the projected disclosure that varies the most from the actual fuel mix and a footnote explaining the reason for the discrepancy between the projected and actual fuel mix. The projected disclosure that varies the most from the actual fuel mix is determined pursuant to subsections (d)(2)(A) and (B) of section 1393.~~

(4) Pools

(A) Purchases: The auditor shall obtain the information used to prepare Schedule 3, and perform the procedures identified below, noting any exceptions.

1. The auditor shall agree the purchases by facility name, facility number provided by EIA, WREGIS, or FERC unique identification number, certificate number of any certificates issued pursuant to Appendix B of these regulations, if any, and kilowatt hours and fuel type from the information used to prepare Schedule 3 to Schedule 3. The auditor shall also test the mathematical accuracy of Schedule 3.

2. The auditor shall select a sample of purchases from the information used to prepare Schedule 3 using the sampling guidelines discussed in subdivision section (b)(2) of this section, and for each purchase perform the following procedures:

a. Agree the facility name, facility unique identification number provided by EIA, WREGIS, or FERC, certificate number of any certificates issued pursuant to Appendix B of these regulations, if any, and kilowatt hours and fuel type from the invoice to the information used to prepare Schedule 3.

b. For facilities owned by the retail supplier provider, agree the kilowatt hours with meter readings made by an independent third party, or confirm that the retail supplier provider has another internal auditing

procedure that assures facility production agrees to production claims.

c. Agree the date of generation from the invoice to the reporting period of the information used to prepare Schedule 3.

(B) Sales: The auditor shall obtain the information used to prepare Schedule 4, and perform the procedures identified below, noting any exceptions.

1. The auditor shall agree the sales by purchaser and by fuel type and kilowatt hours from the information used to prepare Schedule 4 to Schedule 4. The auditor shall also test the mathematical accuracy of Schedule 4.

2. The auditor shall select a sample of sales from the information used to prepare Schedule 4 using the sampling guidelines discussed in ~~subdivision section~~ section (b)(2) of this section, and for each sales compare kilowatt hours of fuel type to a copy of the billing statement and any other records.